1952

Salt Lake City v. Sammia B. Perkins : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

Point 1.

THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

State vs. Brown, 102 P 641
33 C.2. 1916

Beginning on page 66 of the transcript the defendant testified, in substance, that she was a married woman and living with her husband and two children at the time of the alleged offense; that her husband bought the house in question for the purpose of keeping her from having to work; that after buying the house they operated the house together with him

furnishing the necessary money and providing necessary supplies and doing the work about the house, collecting the rent and doing the ordinary chores about the house, including cooking and serving of meals and that she helped with the housework as any housewife would and should to assist her husband generally with the execution thereof.

The defendant was corroborated in this respect by Lord Byron Williams, Wiley Davis and Shadrick Blair (T 95 and 96). So where in the entire record is there any evidence to the contrary, and in this we respectfully submit that under the law, as pointed out in the next proposition, the evidence is wholly lacking on a material element of the offense charged.

Cases are numerous on the question here presented and the point is so well settled until argument seems unnecessary.

State vs. Brown, supra, is a Utah case and directly in point. There the defendant was charged with forgery and set up the defense of insanity. Several witnesses testified on behalf of the defendant to the effect that he was insane. The state relied upon the legal presumption that the defendant was sane and introduced no evidence to rebut the testimony of the witnesses.

In reversing the conviction this court said:

"The jury in this case either misunderstood the court's instructions, or misapplied them to the evidence, or willfully or inadvertently disregarded all the evidence upon the question of insanity. While we disclaim any right to pass upon the weight of the evidence in either criminal or civil law cases, we nevertheless... at ignore the duty of a court to determine whether the jury have correctly ignored the evidence, and for that purpose may scrutinize the evidence to ascertain whether there is any evidence in the case which is material and competent to a conviction.

in this case the only defense was insanity. The state was, nevertheless, required to prove every essential element constituting the alleged offense. True, the State in the first instance was not required to produce any evidence that appellant was sane, since the presumption of sanity, like a prima facie case upon that issue. But after the appellant, by an overwhelming mass of evidence, had rebutted the presumption of sanity, the jury was not authorized to arbitrarily disregard the evidence of insanity, all of which was, in effect, conceded by the State, to be true, and make a finding in favor of the State, based upon a presumption which had been entirely overcome. When the presumption was overcome, there was absolutely no evidence to support the verdict.

POINT C

A MARRIED WOMAN IS INCAPABLE OF COMMITTING A CRIME WHEN ACTING UNDER THE COERCION, DOMINATION OR INFLUENCE OF HER HUSBAND.

U.S.S.A. 1943, 103-1640
 41 C.J.2. 715
 State vs Miller, 62 SW 692
 21 CYS, 1386
 Ferguson vs State, 235 P 497
 Broxton vs State, 81 So 657
 Caldwell vs State, 137 NE 179
 Cochran vs State, 130 At 620
 State vs Innes 15 SW 222
 Rex vs Tins, 2 CCF 10
 State vs Grossman, 110 At711

Keys vs Taylor, 81 NW 901
 State vs Fitzgerald, 49 W. 260
 U. S. vs Qualifflint, 4 Fed. 127
 State vs Burns 130 SW 401
 Tuleadorich vs state, 150 NE 36
 Hall vs state, 321 r 292
 People vs Smith, 206 1st 76
 Lip vs State, 19 IAA 387

Section 103-1-40 of our Code provides
 as follows:

"All persons are capable of committing
 crimes except those belonging to
 the following classes:

- (8) married women, unless the crime
 is punishable by death, acting
 under the threats, command or
 coercion of their husbands."

This statute is declaratory of the
 common law. Which is defined in 41 C.J.S.
 at page 715 as follows;

"where the crime is committed in
 the husband's presence, the bur-
 den is on the state to prove the
 absence of coercion."

and at 21 Cyc 1386 it is said;

"It is not necessary that the presence
 of the husband be actual or im-
 mediate, his constructive presence
 is sufficient."

The foot note to Lip vs State, reported

in 19 LRS 357 gives a comprehensive analysis of the subject together with the holdings of the various jurisdictions and the application of the rule, under the common law and statutory regulations. The rule at common law is that where the husband is present at the time of the commission of the offense, there is a presumption that the wife acted under the coercion and influence of her husband.

There are few cases that hold this presumption to be conclusive, but the great weight of authority, including the cases cited herein, hold that this presumption may be rebutted by evidence, thus in *Calderwell vs State Supra*, it is said;

"When a married woman is indicted for a crime (excepting treason or a murder) committed in the presence of her husband, the presumption of law arises from the husband's presence that the wife acted under his coercion entitling her to a discharge unless the presumption is rebutted."

Page
Eight

and in state vs Greenwald;

"that a married woman commits an offense in the presence of her husband, or near enough to be within his immediate control and influence. She is presumed to have acted under his coercion and while he is responsible, she is innocent, but this presumption is rebuttable."

also in state vs Greenwald;

"A wife assisting her husband to perform an abortion on a party that he had adulterous connections with, is presumed to have been coerced and the evidence of coercion by the wife did not overcome the presumption."

The California case, People vs

Stetely, holds that there is no presumption in favor of the wife but that when there is some evidence, however slight, that the wife acted at the direction of the husband, it then becomes a question of fact for the jury under appropriate instructions by the court.

In the case at bar we do not quote

the Cl. 's evidence, but concede that it is amply sufficient to show that the defendant's home did constitute or become a disorderly house, but we contend that the prosecution still failed to carry its full burden as applied to this defendant.

The maintaining of a disorderly house requires more than one act of immoral conduct. The evidence discloses a course of conduct existing over a period of several months prior to the date of arrest, May 12th 1921, consisting of visits of several people, young and old, colored and white, and at all times of day and night, who were drunk, boisterous and at times fought, inside and outside the house, and on May 12th the officers found a negro woman and white man in the act of sexual intercourse, when they went to the house.

In cases of this kind we contend that that the fact that the husband may not have been actually present at the time the officers made the raid is immaterial since the evidence shows conclusively that he did live there as head of the family and there is no evidence to dispute the evidence of the defendant to the effect that her husband had charge of and directed the affairs of the home. In this respect the record reveals nothing that the defendant did that is inconsistent with her duty to her husband as required by law, including the commission of crime where the penalty is less than death. This is the purpose of the cited statute.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion we respectfully submit that under any of the rules laid down in any of the cases, even the California

rule, would not justify a conviction in this case. The record shows affirmatively that the defendant acted at the direction and influence of her husband and it then became the duty of the prosecution to go forward and show, by evidence, that the defendant acted of her own free will and accord, and in failing to do so it failed to establish a material and essential element of the offense charged; and in this we respectfully submit that the court erred in refusing defendant's request for a directed verdict (F 13), and that this cause should be reversed and remanded with directions.