1952

Salt Lake City v. Sammia B. Perkins : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Defendant, SAMMIA B. PERKINS, was convicted by a jury in the City Court for operating a disorderly house in violation of Section 4816 of the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, Utah, 1944, and from this conviction she appealed to the Third Judicial District Court where, after a trial de novo, she was again convicted of the same offense by jury. From this conviction the said Defendant appeals to this court.

The facts substantially developed by the evidence of said case are as follows :

That the City Commission and Police Department of Salt Lake City had received complaints concerning the operation of a rooming house located at 747 South Second East in Salt Lake City (R. 32, 33). Pursuant thereto periodic checks were made of said premises by the Police Department of Salt Lake City. It was found that a mixed group of both white and colored minors were frequenting this place at late hours of the night and that music was played in said place that could be heard for a distance of fifty to seventy-five feet therefrom (R. 6, 7 and 8). That the said home contained many whiskey bottles and glasses from which whiskey had been drunk (R. 10 and 11). That on or about May 12, 1951, the Police Department conducted a raid of said premises and that two police officers observed the Defendant beckon to a white and colored man who approached her on the front porch. After some conversation, the Defendant motioned these two men to a side door (R. 18, 19). That the police officers went to the rear of this home, and, looking through the window, observed a white man and a colored woman in the act of sexual relations (R. 19, 20). That a further examination of this house disclosed many whiskey bottles and glasses (R. 22, 23). That the Defendant and her children were present that night, but that her husband was not (R. 24). This course of conduct had continued over a long period of time and had disturbed the neighbors (R. 44, 45, 46 and 48). That the Defendant and her husband jointly purchased and operated this home (R. 53, 54). However, he worked separate and apart from the home so that the Defendant actively con-

ducted the business of running the home. The Defendant's husband was not home at the time of the raid on May 12, 1951 (R. 62). The Defendant told the officers that he had left for work (R. 76, 77). At the conclusion of the testimony the Defendant's counsel requested two instructions. The Court denied the first requested instruction (R. 15), the Defendant's second requested instruction being as follows:

“DEFENDANT’S REQUEST NO 2

You are instructed that under the law of this state, a married woman is not capable of committing a crime, where the punishment is less than death, or treason, while acting under the threats, command or coercion of her husband, and in this respect you are instructed that if you believe from the evidence, that the defendant was a married woman, living with her husband on the 12th day of May, 1951, and committed any of the offenses charged in the (three) complaints under the command, influence, coercion or threats of her husband, then, and in that event, it is your duty to acquit her on each charge.

You are further instructed that if you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not she was so acting under such influence of her husband, you should acquit her.”

The said Defendant's second requested instruction was given substantially by the Court as its Instruction No. 9 (R. 101, 102) as follows:

“No. 9: You are further instructed that under the law of this state a married woman is not

capable of committing a crime such as the ones charged against this defendant while she is acting under the threats, command, or coercion of her husband; and in this respect you are instructed that if you believe from the evidence that the defendant was a married woman, living with her husband, on the 12th day of May, 1951, and committed any of the offenses charged against her while under the command, influence, coercion, or threats of her husband, then and in that event it is your duty to acquit her of these charges or of the charge which you believe that she committed while acting under her husband's threats, commands, coercion, or influence. You are further instructed that if you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not she was so acting, you ought to acquit her. In other words, she does not have the burden of convincing you by even a preponderance of the evidence that she was acting under the influence of her husband. In order for you to find her guilty, you must find that she was not under the influence, and if you find she was, you must acquit her, or if you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not she was under his influence, you must acquit her."

After the verdict, the Defendant filed a Motion in Arrest of Judgment (R. 114) and a Motion For a New Trial (R. 115), which motions were denied.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS MATTER ON APPEAL.

POINT II.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

POINT III.

THERE IS NO PRESUMPTION UNDER UTAH LAW THAT A MARRIED WOMAN, WHILE COMMITTING A CRIME, IS ACTING UNDER THE COMMAND, COERCION OR INFLUENCE OF HER HUSBAND.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS MATTER ON APPEAL.

Sec. 20-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, provides as follows:

“Appeals shall lie from the final judgments of justices of the peace in civil and criminal cases to the district courts, on both questions of law and fact, with such limitations and restrictions as are or may be provided by law; and the decisions of the district courts on such appeals shall be final, except in cases involving the validity or constitutionality of a statute; and appeals shall also lie to the district courts from the final judgments of the city courts, and from the final judgments of the juvenile courts, except where a direct appeal to the supreme court is expressly provided for.”

Rule 72(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provide as follows:

“(a) From Final Judgments. An appeal may be taken to the Supreme Court from all final judgments, in accordance with these rules; provided, that in actions originating in city courts and in justices’ courts, the decision of the district court on appeal shall be final, except: (1) In cases involving the validity or constitutionality of a statute or ordinance; and (2) In actions originating in city courts in which the amount in controversy exceeds \$100.00, exclusive of costs.”

The Appellant herein does not anywhere question the validity or constitutionality of any City ordinance or State statute. The above statutes and rules specifically provide that the decisions of the District Court on such matters as the one herein contained shall be final unless there is involved a question of the validity or constitutionality of an ordinance or statute. Nowhere in Appellant’s brief does she charge the invalidity or unconstitutionality of either a City ordinance or State statute in the matter in question, but, to the contrary, she merely claims a misinterpretation of a question of law by the District Court concerning a presumption established by common law and since changed in Utah by a change of circumstances and statutes.

POINT II.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

My statement herein contained and the transcript of the testimony taken at the time of trial is overwhelming and without contradiction to the effect that the house

in question was used by Defendant over a long period of time as a disorderly house and to the continual and persistent disturbance of the immediate neighbors, and Defendant, in her brief, at pages 9 and 10 thereof, admits that the evidence discloses a course of conduct existing over a period of several months prior to the date of arrest on May 12, 1951, which constituted disorderly conduct by both colored and white people, young and old, resorting to said place and drinking intoxicating liquor and conducting themselves in a boisterous and immoral way.

POINT III.

THERE IS NO PRESUMPTION UNDER UTAH LAW THAT A MARRIED WOMAN, WHILE COMMITTING A CRIME, IS ACTING UNDER THE COMMAND, COERCION OR INFLUENCE OF HER HUSBAND.

The only point made by Appellant on which there can be any argument is whether or not, under Utah law, the common law presumption still exists to the effect that a married woman is not liable for crime excepting murder and treason committed in the presence of her husband. I first wish to call to the Court's attention Appellant's requested instruction on this point which is herein set forth in full in the Statement of Facts and the actual instruction given by the trial court which is also set forth in full herein in the Statement of Facts, which instruction, as given, is even more favorable to the Defendant than the one requested. It is my opinion and judgment that the trial court went much further than the law requires in the instruction submitted to the jury and by

which they were bound in their deliberation. Some few states still follow the old common law rule that a married woman is not liable for a crime committed in the presence of her husband since under the common law it was presumed that she acted under constraint from him. However, Utah, as has the majority of the states, enacted statutes which modify greatly the common law. Section 103-1-40, sub-section (8) reads as follows:

“103-1-40. Who Are Capable of Committing Crime.

All persons are capable of committing crimes, except those belonging to the following classes:

(8) Married women, unless the crime is punishable with death, acting under the threats, command or coercion of their husbands.”

It will be noted that this statute constitutes a substantial departure from the provision of the common law wherein it was there provided that a married woman was not liable for crime excepting murder and treason committed in the presence of her husband. It is therefore the Respondent's position that it is incumbent upon the Defendant to show by competent evidence that her act was committed because of or under the threats, command or coercion of her husband. It should also be noted that Sections 40-2-1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, specifically emancipate women in the State of Utah and that the old common law theory that a husband and wife are one for all purposes is forever in the State of Utah dissolved and completely abolished and abandoned.

The courts in various jurisdictions base their decisions on various theories. It is interesting to note that in Tennessee the courts base their decision that the wife is no longer under the disability of coverture. I refer to the case of *Gill v. McKinney*, 140 Tenn. 559, 205 S.W. 416, wherein the court said:

“This supposed duress of the wife by the fact of marriage, like all other doctrines, built upon the legal identity of husband and wife, must depend upon the disability of the wife by virtue of marriage. The policy of this state is completely changed so that married women are no longer under the disability of coverture and are completely emancipated.”

There is then the Kentucky rule that the statute providing that a wife holds and owns all of her separate estate and may contract destroys the common law presumption. In the case of *King v. City of Owensboro*, 218 S.W. 297, it was contended that the court should have given an instruction that if the defendant sold the liquor in the presence of her husband, the law presumes that she acted in obedience to his command and under his coercion and that they should find her not guilty. The court said:

“The rule is a harsh one at best, and with the progress of civilization and the changes by wise modern legislation of the relation between husband and wife as to the right of property and personal control by the husband, it would seem absurd in this enlightened age to regard the wife as a mere machine made to labor and to talk as

the husband directs and to make him liable on that ground for her torts when not committed by his direction or procurement."

and concluded by saying:

"We therefore conclude that there is no longer a presumption that a married woman who commits a crime conjointly with or in the presence of her husband acts under his coercion, and it follows that the court's failure to instruct the jury to that effect was not in error."

Also, see *State v. Hendricks*, 32 Kan. 559, 4 P. 1050.

For a discussion of the rule under the modern married woman's acts see *Morton v. State*, 209 S.W. 644, where it was held that the rule of the common law no longer exists and a married woman is responsible for her crimes as if a *femme sole*.

In the case of *Wampler v. Norton*, 134 Va. 606, 113 S.E. 733, the court declared in reference to a charge of keeping ardent spirits for sale:

"that the defendant cannot excuse herself from guilt upon this or any other sort of criminal charge merely by showing the marriage and pleading a consequent technical coercion by her husband. Thus, for example, when they are living together in a house kept for immoral purposes, she cannot successfully defend a prosecution therefor on the ground that the law presumes her to be acting under his control."

In the case of *State v. Renslow*, an Iowa case, 230 N.W. 316, the court held that the rule of presumptive

coercion did not apply to the act of a married woman in receiving stolen property from her husband. The court said :

“that under the statutes of Iowa, where practically all of the disabilities and disadvantages of coverture are removed and a woman stands in the eyes of the law with practically all of the rights, duties and privileges of a femme sole, we see no reason for the further application of this rule in this state.”

In the case of *Dalton v. People*, 68 Colo. 44, 189 P. 34, the court said :

“There were two reasons on which the common law rule was based. First, that man and wife are one, and that one cannot conspire. Second, that the husband is presumed to control the wife.”

and further concluded :

“that both these propositions have been abandoned and also the legislation in respect to the marital relation. The law of this state requires the coercion by the husband to be proved.”

In the case of *State v. Carpenter*, an Idaho case, reported in 176 P. 2d 919, the court held that it was not in error in failing to give an instruction of the common law rule where a wife was convicted of giving hacksaw blades to her husband in jail to aid him to escape, stating that the common law had been changed by statute.

A case directly in point is the case of *People v. Statley*, a California case reported in 206 P. 2d 76. The California Statute is identical with the Utah Statute. In that case the court quotes from *Katz v. Walkinshaw*, 1903, 141 Cal. 116, 122, 123, 70 P. 663, 74 P. 766, 767, 64 L.R.A. 236, 99 Am. St. Rep. 35 as follows:

“* * * In *Crandall v. Woods*, 8 Cal. (136), 143 the court approved the following rule * * *

“‘It is contrary to the spirit of the common law itself to apply a rule founded on a particular reason to a case where that reason utterly fails.’
* * *

“The true doctrine is that the common law by its own principles adapts itself to varying conditions, and modifies its own rules so as to serve the ends of justice under the different circumstances—* * *

“‘When the reason or a rule ceases, so should the rule itself.

“‘It is a well-settled rule that the law varies with the varying reasons on which it is founded. This is expressed by the maxim, “*Cessante ratione, cessat ipsa lex.*” This means that no law can survive the reasons on which it is founded. It needs no statute to change it; it abrogates itself. If the reasons on which a law rests are overborne, by opposing reasons, which, in the progress of society, gain controlling force, the old law, though still good as an abstract principle, and good in its application to some circumstances, must cease to apply or be a controlling principle to the new circumstances.’”

For two good annotations, it is suggested the court review 4 A.L.R. 279 and 71 A.L.R. 1123.

CONCLUSION

That the Appellant's appeal be dismissed and that the same be remanded with instructions to carry out the sentence heretofore imposed by the District Court.